


Over a Century of      
Engineering Excellence 

 

   

To: November 13, 2008 Bonner Bridge Merger Team Meeting Attendees 

From: John Page, Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Date: December 19, 2008 

Subject: Revised Meeting Minutes – November 13, 2008 Merger Team 2A/4A Meeting 
for the Bonner Bridge Replacement Project (TIP No. B-2500) 

Attendees:  

Gary Jordan USFWS – Raleigh Field Office 
Bill Biddlecome US Army Corps of Engineers 
Christopher A. Militscher USEPA 
Kathy Matthews USEPA 
Ron Sechler National Marine Fisheries Service 
Darrell Echols  NPS – Cape Hatteras National Seashore 
Clarence Coleman FHWA – NC Division 
Ron Lucas FHWA – NC Division 
Jim Gregson NCDENR – DCM 
Cathy Brittingham NCDENR – DCM 
Brian Wrenn NCDENR – DWQ 
David Wainwright NCDENR – DWQ 
Travis Wilson NCWRC 
Renee Gledhill-Earley NCDCR – SHPO 
Lori Kroll NCDOT – Secretary’s Office 
Beth Smyre NCDOT – PDEA 
Brian Yamamoto NCDOT – PDEA 
Rob Hanson NCDOT – PDEA 
Michael Turchy NCDOT – Natural Environment Unit 
Chris Rivenbark NCDOT – Natural Environment Unit 
Elizabeth Lusk NCDOT – Natural Environment Unit 
LeiLani Paugh NCDOT – Natural Environment Unit 
Morgan Weatherford NCDOT – Natural Environment Unit 
Doug Taylor NCDOT – Roadway Design 
D. R. Henderson NCDOT – Hydraulics Unit 
Bob Capehart NCDOT – Division 1 
Rodger Rochelle NCDOT – Transportation Program Management Unit 
Nilesh Surti NCDOT – Transportation Program Management Unit 
Virginia Mabry NCDOT – Transportation Program Management Unit 
Thomas Stoddard NCDOT – TIP Development Unit 
Calvin Leggett NCDOT – Program Development Branch 
A. L. Avant NCDOT – Program Development Branch 
Lonnie Brooks NCDOT – Structure Design Unit 
Mike Robinson NCDOT – Construction Unit 



 

 

 
Page 2 
December 19, 2008 
Minutes: November 13, 2008 Merger Team 2A/4A Meeting for Bonner Bridge 
 
 

Over a Century of      
Engineering Excellence 

 

 

Don O’Toole NCDOT – Geotechnical Engineering Unit 
John Page Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Bobby Norburn Parsons Brinckerhoff 
 
The meeting started at 3:00 p.m. in the Board Room of the NCDOT Transportation Building. 
Bill Biddlecome began the meeting by informing the attendees that the purpose of today’s 
meeting was to seek Merger Team concurrence on Concurrence Points 2A (Bridging Decisions 
and Alignment Review) and 4A (Avoidance and Minimization).  He then asked the attendees 
to introduce themselves before turning the meeting over to Beth Smyre for NCDOT’s 
presentation of the Merger Meeting Packet.   

Beth Smyre said that the purpose of today’s meeting was to seek concurrence only on Phase I 
(Oregon Inlet bridge) of the LEDPA for the Bonner Bridge Replacement Project.  She also 
noted that it was a combined 2A/4A concurrence meeting because a 2A agreement was never 
signed by the Merger Team for the Parallel Bridge Corridor.  She said that she had two 
versions of the concurrence form (i.e., a short form that referenced the Merger Team Packet 
and its findings and a longer form with space for listing the meeting agreements) that could be 
used depending the team’s preference and the outcome of today’s meeting.   

Concurrence Point 2A Discussion 

Beth said that the first topic to discuss related to Concurrence Point 2A was the bridge landing 
on Bodie Island.  The design and alignment analyzed in the FEIS and shown in the Packet is 
based on planning-level decisions, but the exact alignment will be developed by the Design-
Build contractor.  She asked if the agencies had any restrictions that they wanted to 
recommend for inclusion in the Design-Build contract beyond what is already specified in the 
FEIS, keeping in mind that NCDOT will require the contractor to design the bridge so that the 
impacts will not be worse than those presented in the FEIS, but the design could be altered and 
its location adjusted within the project’s 1,000-foot corridor if there are opportunities identified 
to further reduce impacts.  There were no suggestions for further restrictions beyond what is in 
the FEIS on the Bodie Island side of Oregon Inlet. 

Beth said that the next topic to discuss related to Concurrence Point 2A was the bridge landing 
on Hatteras Island.  She said that the alignment/design on Hatteras Island are limited by 
keeping the bridge in NCDOT’s existing 100-foot NC 12 easement.  David Wainwright asked 
about the reason for extending Phase I by an additional 2,000 feet beyond that defined in the 
FEIS.  Beth responded that it was designed to protect the southern bridge terminus by 
extending it beyond an area that is currently showing increased soundside erosion. 

Cathy Brittingham asked whether or not retaining walls were going to be used on the bridge 
landings for the Phase I bridge on Hatteras Island.  She said that retaining walls for Phase I are 
shown on Figure 2-22 (page 2-104), and DCM is concerned about the use of retaining walls for 
the proposed project.  DCM wants to further discuss retaining walls in terms of permitting for 



 

 

 
Page 3 
December 19, 2008 
Minutes: November 13, 2008 Merger Team 2A/4A Meeting for Bonner Bridge 
 
 

Over a Century of      
Engineering Excellence 

 

 

the project.  Beth agreed that further discussions on retaining walls would occur during design 
coordination. 

Beth asked if there were any further comments related to Concurrence Point 2A.  There were 
none.  She then asked if the agencies could agree on Concurrence Point 2A as presented in the 
Merger Team Packet and there were no objections. 

Concurrence Point 4A Discussion 

Oregon Inlet Dredging 

Beth started the Concurrence Point 4A discussion with the first avoidance and minimization 
topic in the Packet – Oregon Inlet dredging.  As stated in the Packet, she said that there would 
be no dredging in SAVs, as well as no dredging to a depth greater than 8 feet. 

Darrell Echols requested that the NPS be added to the list of coordinating agencies shown in 
the Packet related to the Design-Build contractor’s development of dredging techniques and a 
disposal plan to minimize harm to natural resources.  Beth responded that NPS would be added 
to this list. 

David Wainwright asked about the use of dredge spoil for temporary impact wetland 
mitigation.  Beth responded that the FEIS briefly discussed this use with respect to restoring 
the elevation of affected wetland areas. 

Jim Gregson asked if there was a contingency plan to avoid any new areas of SAV that might 
be identified before the start of construction.  Rodger Rochelle responded that the late 2007 
SAV survey would be ground truthed and revised, if needed, prior to construction.  He also 
said that it would be a contract requirement not to dredge in the SAV areas identified based on 
this ground truthing. 

Dredge Spoil Disposal 

Beth began the discussion of the second avoidance and minimization topic in the Packet – 
dredge spoil disposal.  Gary Jordan asked about the statement in the Packet that indicates “the 
disposal of any excess material would be the responsibility of the contractor.”  Beth responded 
that disposal of excess material would be the responsibility of the contractor, but that the 
contractor would contractually have to dispose of this material in accordance with NCDOT’s 
Standard Specifications, permit requirements, and other applicable laws.  Ron Sechler asked if 
the contractor would also consult with the appropriate agencies on excess material disposable.  
Beth responded that this would be the case, and also that further coordination on disposal 
locations would occur at Concurrence Points 4B and 4C. 

 



 

 

 
Page 4 
December 19, 2008 
Minutes: November 13, 2008 Merger Team 2A/4A Meeting for Bonner Bridge 
 
 

Over a Century of      
Engineering Excellence 

 

 

Use of Work Bridges/Haul Roads 

Beth said that there would be no haul roads used in areas with SAVs, but the option for the 
contractor to use haul roads through wetlands was being left open.  Work bridges will be used 
in areas with SAVs.   

Ron Sechler asked if the construction could be “top down” in jurisdictional areas.  Rodger 
Rochelle responded that there was no way to know for sure at this point because replacement 
bridge span length could prevent the use of top down construction for most contractors.  
Rodger also said that an important part of the selection of the Design-Build contractor is the 
environmental quality component of the proposal.  In other words, in selecting a contractor, 
NCDOT will be looking closely at each contractor’s proposed methods for minimizing impacts 
to natural resources. 

Ron Sechler asked about the impacts of work bridges.  Brian Wrenn also asked if the haul 
roads would be like causeways in terms of appearance and impacts.  Bill Biddlecome also 
noted that Table 2 in the Packet indicates that there will be 2.4 acres of SAV impact because of 
the Bodie Island temporary haul road.  Beth responded that there would be no fill from haul 
roads in SAV areas, so NCDOT needs to determine why there are 2.4 acres shown in the table.  
[It was later determined that this is the unmigitated impact, haul road instead of a bridge.] 

David Wainwright asked about the use of turbidity curtains to limit turbidity with the 
placement of haul roads.  Rodger Rochelle responded that turbidity curtains will work and that 
some method will be prescribed to limit turbidity, but the method that the contractor will use is 
not known at this time.  David asked what other methods are available.  Rodger responded that 
he was not aware of any at this time. 

Chris Militscher asked if the SAV and wetland impacts from haul roads shown in Table 2 were 
the maximum impacts that would be expected occur.  Beth responded that these amounts 
should be the maximums and that the contractor would attempt to decrease the amounts, but 
that this issue would be revisited during Concurrence Points 4B and 4C.  Rodger Rochelle 
added that he expects these impacts will decrease, but there is a possibility that the contractor 
could request to increase these amounts if a possible “trade-off” is identified for reducing 
impacts in another area (e.g., if the construction duration could be shortened by a year).  
However, any such proposed trade-offs would be discussed in advance with the Merger Team.  
Bill Biddlecome again clarified that there should be no haul roads in SAVs, just possibly in 
wetlands. 

David Wainwright asked if the impact amounts in Table 2 included demolition.  Beth 
responded that impacts from demolition were not included.  David asked if those impacts 
would be temporary impacts only.  Beth responded that was the case. 

Chris Militscher requested that prior to the Concurrence Point 4B meeting the Merger Team be 
provided information on the impacts that have changed since today’s meeting so that they can 



 

 

 
Page 5 
December 19, 2008 
Minutes: November 13, 2008 Merger Team 2A/4A Meeting for Bonner Bridge 
 
 

Over a Century of      
Engineering Excellence 

 

 

adequately prepare for the Concurrence Point 4B meeting.  Beth responded that was acceptable 
to NCDOT. 

Ron Sechler asked if work bridge pile impacts were included in the SAV impact amounts in 
Table 2.  Beth responded that work bridge piles were included. 

Bill Biddlecome said that he wanted to state for the record that the USACE wants all SAVs 
and wetlands bridged to the maximum extent practicable. 

Chris Militscher asked about the timing for Phase II and whether or not the Merger Team was 
concurring today on anything related to Phase II.  Beth responded that the Merger Team was 
not concurring today on anything related to Phase II.  She also said that the proposed 
concurrence form indicates that combined Concurrence Point 2A/4A meetings will be held 
prior to the completion of the final design for each subsequent phase of the Preferred 
Alternative.  Bill Biddlecome added that that was his recommendation.  Chris said this was 
acceptable to him. 

Cathy Brittingham asked about the distinction between temporary and permanent wetland 
impacts.  For example, with haul roads, are the impacts considered to be temporary or 
permanent?  Beth responded that the impacts were considered to be temporary if they were 
used only for construction (and subsequently removed), no matter how long the duration of the 
activity, and not a part of the permanent roadway facility.  Cathy said that since the 
construction is estimated to last for 4 years, is it really appropriate to consider these as 
temporary impacts.  Bill Biddlecome responded that the permits can contain conditions 
requiring that the temporarily impacted wetlands be restored and regain their previous 
functionality, or else the impact would have to be mitigated.  He also did not agree that 1 to 1 
mitigation was appropriate for this situation.  Bill said that the issue of permanent versus 
temporary impacts needs to be discussed again at a later date once the amount of the temporary 
impacts is better known.  Cathy added that the temporary wetland impacts would need to be 
closely monitored in case they need to be reclassified as permanent impacts.  Ron Sechler said 
that the same consideration applies to SAVs because it is not possible to predict how the holes 
from temporary bridge piers will fill back in.  Chris Militscher agreed that the issue of 
permanent versus temporary impacts can be dealt with later.  Rodger Rochelle said he does not 
know how long work bridges and haul roads might have to remain in place, but he could ask 
some contractors for an estimated duration.  Cathy said that they have seen standard language 
on haul roads in contracts in the past.  Bill reiterated that this issue would be dealt with in the 
permitting process and that the permit would contain conditions for restoration of wetlands. 

Ron Sechler asked if SAVs in the Oregon Inlet area had been mapped recently.  Beth replied 
that the most recent SAV mapping is from late-2007; however, the Design-Build contractor 
will be provided with new aerial photography and required to ground truth the 2007 SAV 
mapping. 



 

 

 
Page 6 
December 19, 2008 
Minutes: November 13, 2008 Merger Team 2A/4A Meeting for Bonner Bridge 
 
 

Over a Century of      
Engineering Excellence 

 

 

Brian Wrenn asked about the intent to jet piles in open water.  He said that based on the NCSU 
study that NCDOT references in the FEIS, jetting causes a high volume of sediment to be 
disturbed and introduced as turbidity into the open water, so why is the use of jetting in these 
areas a project intent.  Mike Robinson responded that jetting is required for the placement of 
large diameter piles.  Ron Sechler added that piles for temporary work bridges are small 
enough that jetting is not required.  Brian asked if jetting would be needed for large diameter 
piles even in wetlands because he is concerned about turbidity and smothering of vegetation 
with jetting.  The response was that jetting would be required for large diameter piles even in 
wetlands.  Brian asked how the discharge would be handled so that areas can recover.  He 
prepared a rough estimate that the jetting spoil in Oregon Inlet for the replacement bridge 
would fill approximately 22 dump trucks.  In addition, the spoil could spread-out and cover 
adjacent SAVs.  Rodger said that it could be included in the contract and the permits to prevent 
this from happening.  Brian wants to see a plan for jetting operations that includes protecting 
jurisdictional areas.  He added that there is good flow in Oregon Inlet, which will help, but 
there is a lot of variability in the way that turbidity curtains function in areas with high water 
velocities.  Bill Biddlecome asked if NCDOT could make a commitment to not jetting 
temporary bridge piles.  Rodger responded that NCDOT cannot commit to that at this time.  
Ron said that a post-construction assessment of impacts to SAV (that occur despite the Design-
Build contractor’s minimization efforts) would have to be done because it is not possible to 
precisely predict these impacts prior to construction.  The type of material that will be 
disturbed (i.e., sands versus fines) is also a concern about jetting, but the material type is not 
currently known. 

Protected Species Commitments and Retention of Portion of Existing Structure/Construction of 
Fishing Pier 

Beth Smyre said that the last two avoidance and minimization topics in the Packet related to 
construction of the new bridge (protected species commitments and retention of portion of 
existing structure/construction of fishing pier) are intended as reminders to the Merger Team 
on how these topics are addressed in the FEIS and the Section 7 Biological Opinion.  She said 
that the potential fishing pier would be discussed during the permitting process, but that there 
is no specific plan for the replacement of the fishing catwalks as of yet.  Bill Biddlecome said 
that the USACE is concerned that if no submerged structure was included within Davis 
Slough, then Davis Slough could become the primary channel through Oregon Inlet and the 
planned navigation zone for the new bridge would be rendered useless to vessel traffic.  This 
would hurt the USACE dredging efforts in Oregon Inlet.  It was discussed that this issue would 
be further discussed during the permitting process.  Bill also said that although the NCDOT 
estimated the needed width for the navigation span of the new bridge in the FEIS, the USACE 
has not yet decided how wide it needs to be.  One reason for this is that the navigation span 
width cannot be accurately determined without knowing whether or not the terminal groin will 
be left in place.  Chris Militscher asked if the USACE is proposing that the groin be left in 
place.  Bill responded by referencing the language contained in the USACE’s September 18, 
2008 letter to NCDOT which stated that the Wilmington District strongly recommends that the 



 

 

 
Page 7 
December 19, 2008 
Minutes: November 13, 2008 Merger Team 2A/4A Meeting for Bonner Bridge 
 
 

Over a Century of      
Engineering Excellence 

 

 

terminal groin remain in place as an essential feature of the new Oregon Inlet bridge for the 
reasons stated in the letter.  Bill also responded that it was his interpretation that without the 
terminal groin being left in place, the USACE would be unable to identify a Navigational Zone 
to NCDOT. 

Chris Militscher said that Dave Henderson had told him about the recently approved AASHTO 
report on designing bridges in an ocean environment titled “Guide Specifications for Bridges 
Vulnerable to Coastal Storms.”  Chris requested that NCDOT provide the Merger Team with a 
copy of this report.  Dave Henderson said that the report is 55 pages long, but the published 
version was not available yet because it had just gone to the publisher.  Beth Smyre said that 
any Merger Team member that wants a copy should send her an e-mail request.   

Demolition of Bonner Bridge 

Beth Smyre said that the final Concurrence Point 4A topic in the Packet related to avoidance 
and minimization was the demolition of Bonner Bridge.  She said that the commitments on 
access for construction also applied to demolition of the existing bridge. 

Beth asked if there were any further questions on Concurrence Point 4A. 

LeiLani Paugh asked about the comment in the USACE FEIS comment letter related to 
questioning NCDOT’s proposed use of Ballance Farm as a wetland mitigation site.  Chris 
Militscher said that EPA had the same comment as USACE on the proposed use of Ballance 
Farm.  Bill Biddlecome responded that the Ballance Farm site could be used for mitigation of 
fresh water wetland impacts, but that it may not be appropriate for mitigation of salt water 
wetland impacts.  LeiLani said that NCDOT needs to discuss this issue further with the 
USACE because a portion of Ballance Farm had been reserved for wetland mitigation for the 
subject project.  Cathy Brittingham added that DCM also had not decided for sure if Ballance 
Farm was appropriate for wetland mitigation for this project, but that they preferred on-site 
mitigation.  She said she was not sure whether or not NCDOT had exhausted possible on-site 
mitigation options, but she would like NCDOT to further investigate on-site options.  Ron 
Sechler said that he shared the same concern about not using on-site wetland mitigation.  It was 
discussed that the SDEIS included possible on-site mitigation sites, but these sites were 
removed from the FEIS in favor of the Ballance Farm site.  Darrell Echols said that there could 
be appropriate on-site wetland mitigation options in the National Seashore on Bodie Island.  
Bill Biddlecome said that USACE has some ideas for on-site mitigation that they want 
NCDOT to further investigate.  LeiLani said that this issue could be discussed further at a 
separate meeting between NCDOT, USACE, and DCM, but that NCDOT would like to resolve 
it as soon as possible.  Beth said this discussion would be included in the meeting minutes and 
that NCDOT would follow-up with the USACE.   

Beth Smyre asked if there were any further questions on Concurrence Point 4A.  Hearing no 
further questions, she asked the Merger Team which concurrence form they wanted to use (i.e., 



 

 

 
Page 8 
December 19, 2008 
Minutes: November 13, 2008 Merger Team 2A/4A Meeting for Bonner Bridge 
 
 

Over a Century of      
Engineering Excellence 

 

 

the short form or the longer form with space for adding specific topics from today’s meeting).  
Bill Biddlecome responded that Table 2 in the Packet needed to be updated to correctly reflect 
the impacts to SAVs from the Bodie Island temporary haul road.   

Chris Militscher said that he was concerned about the earlier DWQ comment related to the 
amount of jetted material that will be generated in Oregon Inlet.  He realizes jetting is 
unavoidable, but he wants language included in the Design-Build contract related to use of 
Best Management Practices to minimize jetting impacts.  In addition, a commitment to clean-
up and restore the area could be included.  Cathy Brittingham said that potential impacts from 
jetting were not quantified in the FEIS.  Chris responded that these impacts cannot be 
accurately estimated in advance.  Dave Henderson said that the sidecast dredging that is 
currently being used by USACE to maintain the Oregon Inlet channel has similar impacts to 
the proposed jetting for inserting bridge piles (i.e., sand is scooped up and thrown into the 
inlet).  He asked if there was any evidence that sidecast dredging was causing negative 
impacts.  Bill Biddlecome responded that there was currently no information on negative 
impacts from sidecast dredging.  Cathy said that DCM’s real concern is not jetting in open 
water, but rather near SAVs and wetlands.  It was also discussed that the type of material jetted 
is of concern (i.e., if the deeper subsurface material consists of fines, that will be of more 
concern than jetting of sandy materials).    

Based on the above-referenced discussions, Beth Smyre updated the concurrence form to 
include the following specific issues from today’s meeting: 

• Merger Team members will be provided, prior to Concurrence Point 4B, with any major 
changes in wetland/SAV impacts based on updated designs. 

• The Design-Build contractor should minimize damage to wetlands/SAV/Oregon Inlet from 
jetting spoils. 

• Table 2 currently shows temporary impacts from haul roads in SAV areas on Bodie Island.  
NCDOT will not allow haul roads within SAV. 

Each agency’s decision on concurrence for Concurrence Point 2A/4A is listed below and is 
also shown on the attached concurrence form: 

• USACE – concurrence provided. 
• USEPA – concurrence provided. 
• NCDWQ – concurrence provided. 
• SHPO – concurrence provided. 
• NMFS – abstained from concurrence. 
• NPS – concurrence provided. 
• USFWS-PINWR – abstained from concurrence. 
• NCDOT – concurrence provided. 
• USFWS – abstained from concurrence. 



 

 

 
Page 9 
December 19, 2008 
Minutes: November 13, 2008 Merger Team 2A/4A Meeting for Bonner Bridge 
 
 

Over a Century of      
Engineering Excellence 

 

 

• NCWRC – abstained from concurrence. 
• FHWA – concurrence provided. 
• NCDMF – not represented at meeting (concurrence later provided). 
• NCDCM – concurrence provided. 

The agencies abstaining from concurrence will provide further written documentation on their 
reasons for abstaining. 

With respect to the upcoming project schedule, Beth Smyre said that the Design-Build contract 
is planned to be awarded in June 2009. The Concurrence Point 4B meeting will likely be held 
in the Fall of 2009.  Rodger Rochelle said that NCDOT would be the “go-between” for the 
agencies and the Design-Build contractor.  He added that there would be no direct contact 
between the agencies and the potential contractors during the pre-bidding process unless a 
NCDOT representative is present.     

Bill Biddlecome then adjourned the meeting. 

file no.: 3301-2.7.2 
 
J:\PLANNING\Bonner SDEIS\Stakeholder Involvement\Merger Meetings\4-08 Merger Meeting - Concurrence Point 4A\Bonner 
Merger Team 4A Meeting Minutes (revised final 12-19-08).doc 



Over a Century of
Engineering Excellence

To: March 26, 2009 Bonner Bridge Merger Team Meeting Attendees
From: John Page, Parsons Brinckerhoff
Date: April 15, 2009
Subject: Meeting Minutes – March 26, 2009 NEPA/Section 404 Merger Team

Informational Meeting for the Bonner Bridge Replacement Project (TIP No.
B-2500)

Attendees:

Gary Jordan USFWS – Raleigh Field Office
Pete Benjamin USFWS – Raleigh Field Office
Mike Bryant USFWS – NC Coastal Plain Refuge Complex
Dennis Stewart USFWS – Pea Island National Wildlife Refuge
Bill Biddlecome US Army Corps of Engineers
Scott McLendon US Army Corps of Engineers
Stacie Craddock US Army Corps of Engineers
Christopher A. Militscher USEPA
Kathy Matthews USEPA
Ron Sechler National Marine Fisheries Service
Mike Murray National Park Service – Cape Hatteras National Seashore
Thayer Broili National Park Service – Outer Banks Group
Clarence Coleman FHWA – NC Division
Ron Lucas FHWA – NC Division
Michael Dawson FHWA – NC Division
Rob Ayers FHWA – NC Division
Amy Simes NCDENR
Jim Hoadley NCDENR – DCM
Cathy Brittingham NCDENR – DCM
Sara Winslow NCDENR – DMF
Brian Wrenn NCDENR – DWQ
David Wainwright NCDENR – DWQ
Travis Wilson NCDENR – Wildlife Resources Commission
Renee Gledhill-Earley NCDCR – SHPO
Greg Thorpe NCDOT – PDEA
Beth Smyre NCDOT – PDEA
Brian Yamamoto NCDOT – PDEA
Rob Hanson NCDOT – PDEA
Kristine O’Connor NCDOT – PDEA
Missy Pair NCDOT – PDEA
Michael Turchy NCDOT – Natural Environment Unit
Chris Rivenbark NCDOT – Natural Environment Unit
Elizabeth Lusk NCDOT – Natural Environment Unit
Kathy Herring NCDOT – Natural Environment Unit
Byron Kyle NCDOT – Roadway Design



Page 2
April 15, 2009
Minutes: March 26, 2009 Merger Team Informational Meeting for Bonner Bridge

Over a Century of
Engineering Excellence

Zak Hamidi NCDOT – Roadway Design
Dave Henderson NCDOT – Hydraulics Unit
Jerry Lindsey NCDOT – Hydraulics Unit
Jerry Jennings NCDOT – Division 1
Clay Willis NCDOT – Division 1
Ray McIntyre NCDOT – TIP Development Unit
Thomas Stoddard NCDOT – TIP Development Unit
Debbie Barbour NCDOT – Preconstruction
Victor Barbour NCDOT – Technical Services
Mark Staley NCDOT – Roadside Environmental Unit
Rodger Rochelle NCDOT – Transportation Program Management Unit
Nilesh Surti NCDOT – Transportation Program Management Unit
Virginia Mabry NCDOT – Transportation Program Management Unit
Lonnie Brooks NCDOT – Structure Design Unit
K. J. Kim NCDOT – Geotechnical Engineering Unit
Sam Cooper CZR
John Page Parsons Brinckerhoff
Bobby Norburn Parsons Brinckerhoff

The meeting started at 10:30 a.m. in the Board Room of the NCDOT Transportation Building.
Bill Biddlecome opened the meeting and asked the attendees to introduce themselves.  He then
turned the meeting over to Beth Smyre.

Introduction and Purpose of this Meeting

Beth said that today’s meeting was an informational meeting and asked if everyone had a
meeting packet.  She said the purpose of the meeting was to discuss the possibility of revisiting
the project’s LEDPA decision; however, before NCDOT formally asks for concurrence, it
wants to inform the Merger Team members on the reasons behind this possibility and get
agency feedback.  In addition NCDOT wants each agency to have an opportunity to take
information from today’s meeting back to discuss further with their management before any
decision to change the LEDPA is made.

Project History and Current Status

Beth went through a brief summary of the LEDPA concurrence agreement (including the
elevation process that occurred), the FEIS, and the Concurrence Point 2A/4A agreement for
Phase I of the LEDPA, including the dates for each event.  She also defined the LEDPA – the
Parallel Bridge Corridor with Phased Approach/Rodanthe Bridge Alternative.



Page 3
April 15, 2009
Minutes: March 26, 2009 Merger Team Informational Meeting for Bonner Bridge

Over a Century of
Engineering Excellence

Summary of Comments on the 2008 Final Environmental Impact Statement/Section 4(f)
Evaluation

Beth turned the meeting over to Clarence Coleman to discuss the agency comments received
on the FEIS, noting that a copy of all agency and NGO comments received were included in
the merger packet.  Clarence said that substantive agency and NGO comments were received
on the FEIS, so NCDOT/FHWA started to review and respond to these comments.  He said
that the Record of Decision will include responses to all comments, but today’s meeting will
focus on several issues that FHWA believes need further discussion with the Merger Team
based on the FEIS comments.

Clarence said that the first issue he wanted to discuss was the FEIS’ Section 4(f) analysis.  The
Department of Cultural Resources (DCR) commented that there would be a substantial
impairment to the Rodanthe Historic District as a result of the LEDPA.  FHWA interpreted this
comment to mean that DCR disagreed with the conclusion in the FEIS that there would not be
a constructive use of the historic district with the LEDPA.  DCR also commented that they
disagreed with the FEIS determination that there would be no constructive use of the Refuge.
DCR’s comment indicates that, based on the LEDPA’s impacts on the Refuge as documented
in the FEIS, they believe that there would be a constructive use of the Refuge.  In addition, the
DOI commented that any of the Parallel Bridge Corridors would violate Section 4(f), and they
also believed that there would be a constructive use of the Refuge.  Finally, Southern
Environmental Law Center (SELC) also commented that they disagreed with the constructive
use analysis in the FEIS.

Clarence said the second issue that he wanted to discuss was Refuge access with the LEDPA.
The DOI and several other agencies commented that they were concerned over the public’s
loss of access to the Refuge with the LEDPA.

The third issue that Clarence wanted to discuss was the future disposition of the terminal groin.
SELC commented that the FEIS did not adequately assess the impacts of removing the groin
with the LEDPA, and that this issue had a direct relationship to the project.

Certification of NC 12 Right-of-Way

Clarence discussed that FHWA requires NCDOT to certify that the right-of-way/easement is
legal for federally-funded projects under FHWA jurisdiction to (i.e., to make sure the state has
rights to the easement).  He said that this process typically occurs once the NEPA process is
completed, but based on the FEIS comments FHWA thought it should occur now.  Therefore,
NCDOT conducted a substantial amount of additional research into the history of the NC 12
easement through the Refuge and NCDOT’s rights to this easement.  Clarence also said that
based on the property deeds and other legal documents discovered during the additional
research, FHWA decided to reevaluate the applicability of Section 4(f) with respect to the
Refuge for the proposed project.  The reason for this decision is that FHWA believes that the



Page 4
April 15, 2009
Minutes: March 26, 2009 Merger Team Informational Meeting for Bonner Bridge

Over a Century of
Engineering Excellence

research revealed an evolutionary relationship between NC 12 and the Refuge that could alter
the Section 4(f) analysis for the Refuge in the FEIS.  Clarence reiterated that despite rumors to
the contrary, the genesis for this effort was the right-of-way certification process.

Renee Gledhill-Early asked if the re-evaluation of Section 4(f) was related only to the 4(f) use
of the Refuge as refuge (i.e., the re-evaluation does not relate to other possible uses of the
Refuge that qualify it for Section 4(f) protection).  Clarence indicated that the Refuge is being
re-evaluated as a refuge and as a historic resource under Section 4(f).

Clarence discussed that the Road North/Bridge South Alternative is being re-examined as the
potential Preferred Alternative for several reasons.  He discussed that the cost is less and that
DCR preferred the Road North/Bridge South over the LEDPA because keeping NC 12 at-grade
would be preferable for maintaining the integrity of the historic landscape of the Refuge.

Terminal Groin

Clarence discussed that FHWA and NCDOT want to keep the terminal groin with any Parallel
Bridge Corridor alternative to protect the southern end of the replacement Oregon Inlet bridge
on Hatteras Island.  However, SELC is concerned with what they believed to be the FEIS’ lack
of analysis related to the impact of removing the terminal groin.  Clarence said that the FEIS
includes discussion of this issue, but if further analysis of removing the groin is needed, the
analysis would need to consider all pertinent related issues for all of the detailed study
alternatives, including the Pamlico Sound Bridge Corridor.  Two such issues are Section 106
and Section 7 with respect to threatened and endangered species impacts (critical habitat for
the endangered piping plover has been federally-designated behind the groin since the FEIS
was published).  Based on the current groin permit, it appears that the groin would have to be
removed with the Pamlico Sound Bridge Corridor, but FHWA is currently coordinating with
USFWS on whether or not this would be the case.  It needs to be determined if it is possible to
get a new permit to retain the groin, if needed, with any of the detailed study alternatives.
Clarence said that further coordination with USFWS is needed in the next few weeks on NEPA
and other related issues related to retaining the groin with the LEDPA.

Section 106 Coordination

Clarence said that there was a Section 106 coordination meeting between FHWA, NCDOT,
and the Section 106 consulting parties last Tuesday (3/24/09).  The reason for the meeting was
to discuss DCR’s comments on the FEIS related to impacts to the Rodanthe Historic District.
DCR’s comments led FHWA and NCDOT to take a closer look at the inconsistencies in the
locations of the NC 12 termini in Rodanthe between the Parallel Bridge Corridor alternatives
and the Pamlico Sound Bridge Corridor alternatives (i.e., the Pamlico Sound Corridor
alternatives were designed to avoid the historic district as defined in the Supplement to the
SDEIS, whereas the Parallel Bridge Corridor alternatives were defined based on an earlier
district boundary and while avoiding the district’s old boundary, they did encroach on the



Page 5
April 15, 2009
Minutes: March 26, 2009 Merger Team Informational Meeting for Bonner Bridge

Over a Century of
Engineering Excellence

revised boundary).  Clarence said that in order to address this inconsistency, the NC 12 termini
in Rodanthe for the Phased Approach/Rodanthe Bridge, Road North/Bridge South, and All
Bridge alternatives have been redesigned to stay out of the historic district.  He said that as a
result of these design changes, it was agreed at the Section 106 meeting that now there would
be “No Adverse Effect” on the historic district with the Phased Approach/Rodanthe Bridge,
Road North/Bridge South, and All Bridge alternatives.  Beth discussed the design changes in
more detail, and copies of the new designs were also included in the meeting packet.  Clarence
noted that these new designs are an outcome of the Section 106 coordination process and will
apply no matter which alternative is chosen as the LEDPA.

Clarence said that the proposed project’s effects on the Refuge were also revisited at the
Section 106 meeting, but no revised concurrence was made related to impacts on the Refuge.
He said that it is a fact that NC 12 has been moved four times within the Refuge with no
documented significant environmental impacts.  He also said that a FONSI was completed on
the last road relocation in the Refuge in the 1990s.  However, additional Section 106
coordination will continue since no revised concurrence was reached.  FHWA agreed to gather
some additional information, including drawings, and then get back with DCR to further
discuss impacts on the Refuge.  At the Section 106 meeting, it was agreed that the adverse
effects determination in the FEIS for the Coast Guard Station still applies for all alternatives.
In addition, an agreement was reached on the use of a temporary staging area at the Coast
Guard Station for Phase I.

Next Steps

Preparation of draft revised Section 4(f) analysis by FHWA – FHWA is revising the
FEIS’ Section 4(f) analysis based on the new right-of-way data generated by NCDOT’s
additional research on the NC 12 easement.  Mike Murray asked if the Merger Team
would have a chance to review and comment on the revised Section 4(f) analysis once it is
completed since it includes new information.  Clarence responded that they would.

Review of new right-of-way data and draft timeline by FHWA, NCDOT, and DOI,
followed by distribution of data to Merger Team – FHWA has sent information on the
right-of-way agreements to USFWS and DOI, who will verify the validity of the data
before it is distributed to the other Merger Team members.  FHWA and NCDOT also have
prepared a draft timeline of the history of the NC 12 easement through the Refuge and past
agreements (i.e., the evolutionary relationship between NC 12 and the Refuge discussed
previously), which also has been sent to USFWS and DOI for their concurrence and/or
feedback before it is distributed to the rest of the Merger Team.  Ultimately, the NC
Attorney General and agency lawyers may have to meet to discuss the official timeline
before the issue can be finalized.  Clarence said that the additional data and the timeline are
factors in determining the applicability of Section 4(f) with respect to the Refuge.  Bill
Biddlecome asked if this issue only related to the applicability of Section 4(f) and not



Page 6
April 15, 2009
Minutes: March 26, 2009 Merger Team Informational Meeting for Bonner Bridge

Over a Century of
Engineering Excellence

compatibility.  Clarence responded that the issue only relates to Section 4(f) (i.e.,
compatibility is a separate issue).

Continuation of Section 106 coordination.

NCDOT and FHWA will continue to examine the Road North/Bridge South
Alternative as a potential Preferred Alternative.

Next Bonner Bridge Merger Team Meeting will be held on May 21, 2009 – Clarence
said that the next proposed Merger Team Meeting has been pushed back from April 16 to
May 21 (i.e., to the next regularly scheduled meeting on May 21, 2009) in part because of
the outcome of the Section 106 meeting, but also to allow the timeline to be finalized and
then subsequently to allow all of the Merger Team agencies to have time to review the
timeline before the meeting.

Question and Answer

Pete Benjamin said that he doesn’t understand the timeline argument with respect to Refuge
Section 4(f) applicability – it doesn’t seem relevant.  He would like something in writing from
FHWA related to where they are going with this issue.  Mike Bryant asked who within his
agency has the information that Clarence referenced because he has not seen it.  Mike said he
has only seen the map that was being used as a display at today’s meeting which shows the
year in which various parcels were transferred from the state to the Refuge.  Clarence said that
he had been told that the DOI solicitor has the new right-of-way information and is reviewing
it.  In addition, he thought that tabular information listing resources for the new data was e-
mailed last Monday to Mike, and possibly to Pete, but Clarence will confirm that DOI has
received the intended information.  He also said that he wanted to make it clear that FHWA’s
research and conclusions are not the final word, rather FHWA is looking for DOI to agree with
FHWA’s findings and/or provide missing elements.  He re-iterated that ultimately lawyers
from the state, FHWA, and the DOI would likely be involved in determining a final
conclusion.

In response to a comment, Clarence said that no one with FHWA has claimed that NCDOT has
the right to move NC 12 wherever they want within the Refuge.  At this point, FHWA and
NCDOT are simply speculating that the extensive collaboration between the state and the DOI
that has occurred over the years, as exhibited in the documents gathered in NCDOT’s research
back to the early 1900s, may indicate that Section 4(f) does not apply for moving NC 12 within
the Refuge due to joint planning.  However, it was discussed that it has yet to be determined
whether or not the passing of the National Wildlife Refuge System Improvement Act in 1997,
which brought about the requirement for Refuge compatibility determinations, would impact
the historic process that has been followed for relocating NC 12 within the Refuge (i.e., the
process prior to 1997 that became evident based on the new right-of-way data gathered).



Page 7
April 15, 2009
Minutes: March 26, 2009 Merger Team Informational Meeting for Bonner Bridge

Over a Century of
Engineering Excellence

Travis Wilson asked for clarification as to whether or not the tiered EIS that had been planned
for implementing the multiple phases of the current LEDPA (the Phased Approach/Rodanthe
Bridge Alternative), for which it had been assumed that all alternatives for maintaining NC 12
through the Refuge (i.e., nourishment, relocation on road, and relocation on bridge) would be
kept available for Phases II to IV, would still keep these additional options for future phases if
the Road North/Bridge South is selected as the LEDPA.  Clarence responded that the other
options would remain available.  He said that Phase I (the new Oregon Inlet bridge) would be
basically the same for any alternative at this point, including extending the bridge to the south
across the northern-most hot spot on Hatteras Island, but beyond that the best option (based on
future impact analyses) at the time the project is ready for implementation could still be chosen
for future phases.  FHWA regulations allow the ROD to be revised as long as all alternatives
being considered for the revised ROD were carried forward for detailed study in the FEIS.
Beth added that based on the estimated costs for the project, any alternative will now have to
be phased.  For example, the Road North/Bridge South Alternative is anticipated to be two to
three phases, with the new Oregon Inlet bridge as the first phase.  She added that later phases
could change to other alternatives based on future conditions in the Refuge.  Mike asked if
there would be a Supplemental EIS for changes to future phases of the LEDPA.  Clarence said
that a Reevaluation would be done of the ROD to determine if there were any new significant
impacts and that would be the catalyst for possibly doing a Supplemental EIS.

Chris Militscher asked if the Section 404 permit would be phased.  Scott McLendon responded
that the permit would be phased, but the impacts for all phases would be considered in issuing
the initial permit so that hopefully the maximum impacts for all phases are known in advance.

Scott asked why the Road North/Bridge South Alternative would be chosen because it has
much greater wetlands impacts.  Clarence responded that part of the reason was related to the
access issues comments from the DOI, as well as concerns over elevated structures (because of
aesthetics) through the Refuge from other commenters.  In addition, as he discussed
previously, NC 12 has been relocated at-grade several times through the Refuge with no
identified significant impacts.  Dennis Stewart commented that we need to keep in perspective
that this relocation would be much longer than previous relocations.  Clarence said that it was
still a fact that all previous relocations had been handled with FONSIs (or possibly lesser
environmental documents).

Scott asked for clarification on whether or not Section 4(f) and the new easement data were the
primary reasons behind the Merger Team being asked to possibly consider changing the
LEDPA to the Road North/Bridge South Alternative.  Clarence responded that based on the
new data FHWA is re-analyzing the applicability of Section 4(f) to the Refuge because it may
not apply to the Refuge as a refuge, but it may still apply to the Refuge as a historic site.  He
also noted that the Road North/Bridge South Alternative would cost substantially less to build
than the Phased Approach/Rodanthe Bridge Alternative (approximately $500 million less
based on the most recent cost estimates).



Page 8
April 15, 2009
Minutes: March 26, 2009 Merger Team Informational Meeting for Bonner Bridge

Over a Century of
Engineering Excellence

Clarence said that the DOI commented that the Pamlico Sound Bridge Corridor may be
feasible and prudent to build, so the LEDPA would violate Section 4(f).  Based on this
comment, FHWA is looking at the issue of prudence again and this will be part of the new
Section 4(f) analysis.  He added that FHWA believes that it has already been proven that the
long bridge is not practicable and USACE had agreed with this conclusion by signing the
Review Board agreement.  Scott commented that if FHWA determines again that the long
bridge is not prudent, that means that it cannot be built under Section 4(f), but that
determination would not apply to Section 404.  (Note:  Prudence is an FHWA decision under
Section 4(f)).  The Corps has already agreed that the Pamlico Sound Alternative is not
practicable, consistent with Section 404 b(1) Guidelines.  Clarence agreed but added that he
hoped USACE would consider FHWA’s Section 4(f) determination that the alternative could
not be built in their Section 404 decision.

Brian Wrenn asked if there would be any other design changes with the redesigned Road
North/Bridge South Alternative that would affect the impact numbers in the FEIS.  Beth said
that two additional design changes that are being considered with the Road North/Bridge South
Alternative are extending the new Oregon Inlet bridge approximately 2,000 feet to the south
(as with the Phased Approach) and possibly shifting the Road North part of the project to try
and reduce wetland impacts.  Any possible shifts to the alignment to reduce wetland impacts
would be discussed further with USACE and NCDENR, including bridging opportunities.  She
said that these other potential design changes had not been finalized yet, but any additional
changes would be included in the information packet sent out prior to the next meeting so that
the Merger Team would have an opportunity to discuss the changes at the meeting.  Brian
asked if design changes would also be considered for the other Parallel Bridge Corridor
alternatives.  Beth said that further design changes would probably only be looked at for the
Road North/Bridge South Alternative because the Phased Approach had already been
improved as much as possible at this point and the focus is now on possibly pursuing the Road
North/Bridge South as the new LEDPA.

Brian commented that he hasn’t heard sufficient justification for pursuing the Road
North/Bridge South Alternative when the wetlands impacts are so significantly higher.  He
added that he thought the other alternatives should also be looked at further for reducing
impacts rather than focusing on customizing one alternative.  He said that it would be difficult
for DENR to permit one alternative when there are other alternatives on the table that have
fewer impacts.  Scott agreed that it would be difficult for the USACE to justify changing the
LEDPA based on just looking at changes to one alternative without also looking at improving
the other alternatives.

Pete asked if the May 21 meeting would be a concurrence meeting.  Clarence responded that it
possibly would be a concurrence meeting.  Pete said that he wants to be provided information
that fully “connects the dots” as to how the decision was made to consider moving away from
the Phased Approach as the LEDPA.  Clarence said that a package would be put together to
more fully explain to the Merger Team members why the Road North/Bridge South



Page 9
April 15, 2009
Minutes: March 26, 2009 Merger Team Informational Meeting for Bonner Bridge

Over a Century of
Engineering Excellence

Alternative is under consideration as the new LEDPA, and that this information would be
provided before the next meeting.  Pete requested a one month advance notice with the
informational packet for the next meeting.

Bill said that he is still confused as to how compatibility fits into the current decision-making
process to pursue the Road North/Bridge South Alternative.  Clarence said compatibility is not
FHWA’s decision.  Mike responded that compatibility is still a major issue that would apply
unless something takes away DOI’s rights to part of the property within the Refuge.  Bill asked
if compatibility was being considered in parallel with the other issues that were discussed
today.  Clarence responded that the attorneys are considering this issue.  Scott asked if a
decision on compatibility would be made prior to the next Merger Team meeting.  Mike
responded that he was not sure.  He just knows that the DOI solicitors had asked for all of the
relevant project information, including the new data, so that they can have an informed
discussion.  Bill said that he thought the attorneys should make a decision on compatibility
before the next meeting.  Mike said that he cannot make a compatibility determination now,
but he could render a new opinion once he has more information or new direction from DOI.

Clarence again summarized the action items that need to occur prior to the next Merger Team
meeting:

All documentation related to the new data and timelines need to be reviewed by the
FHWA, NCDOT, and DOI attorneys and finalized, and then provided to the Merger Team
members prior to the meeting.

Refuge management needs to provide an indication on their jurisdiction related to
compatibility once the agency attorneys have reviewed and provided comments on the new
data and timeline.

Scott asked if the compatibility action item was appropriate.  Mike responded that
compatibility determinations usually take place after the NEPA process has been completed,
but in the past draft determinations have been made to help explain USFWS’ position.  As far
as he knows, USFWS still considers the NC 12 easement through the Refuge to be the
easement shown in the FEIS, but we will have to wait and see if the new data changes
anything.

Cathy Brittingham asked if the team members would be provided a summary of today’s
meeting.  Beth responded that meeting minutes would be prepared.

Bill Biddlecome then adjourned the meeting.

file no.: 3301-2.7.2

J:\PLANNING\Bonner SDEIS\Stakeholder Involvement\Merger Meetings\3-09 Merger Meeting\Bonner Merger Team Meeting
Minutes (3-26-09)- final.doc



Over a Century of      
Engineering Excellence 

 

   

To: May 21, 2009 Bonner Bridge Merger Team Meeting Attendees 

From:  John Page, Parsons Brinckerhoff 

Date: June 29, 2009 

Subject: Meeting Minutes – May 21, 2009 NEPA/Section 404 Merger Team Meeting 
for the Bonner Bridge Replacement Project (TIP No. B-2500) 

Attendees:  

Gary Jordan USFWS – Raleigh Field Office 
Pete Benjamin USFWS – Raleigh Field Office 
Mike Bryant USFWS – NC Coastal Plain Refuge Complex 
Dennis Stewart USFWS – Pea Island National Wildlife Refuge 
Bill Biddlecome US Army Corps of Engineers 
Christopher A. Militscher USEPA 
Kathy Matthews USEPA 
Ron Sechler National Marine Fisheries Service 
Thayer Broili National Park Service – Outer Banks Group 
Clarence Coleman FHWA – NC Division 
Ron Lucas FHWA – NC Division 
Diane Mobley FHWA (by phone) 
Michelle Sayyar FHWA (by phone) 
Rob Ayers FHWA – NC Division 
Amy Simes NCDENR 
Jim Gregson NCDENR – DCM 
Cathy Brittingham NCDENR – DCM 
Michele Walker NCDENR – DCM 
Sara Winslow NCDENR – DMF (by phone) 
Brian Wrenn NCDENR – DWQ 
David Wainwright NCDENR – DWQ 
Travis Wilson NCDENR – Wildlife Resources Commission 
David Cox NCDENR – Wildlife Resources Commission 
Renee Gledhill-Earley NCDCR – SHPO 
Morgan Jethro Albemarle RPO (by phone) 
Greg Thorpe NCDOT – PDEA 
Beth Smyre NCDOT – PDEA 
Brian Yamamoto NCDOT – PDEA 
Rob Hanson NCDOT – PDEA 
Drew Joyner NCDOT – Human Environment Unit 
Mary Pope Furr NCDOT – Human Environment Unit 
Michael Turchy NCDOT – Natural Environment Unit 
Chris Rivenbark NCDOT – Natural Environment Unit 
Elizabeth Lusk NCDOT – Natural Environment Unit 
Morgan Weatherford NCDOT – Natural Environment Unit 
Leilani Paugh NCDOT – Natural Environment Unit 



 

 

 
Page 2 
June 29, 2009 
Minutes: May 21, 2009 Merger Team Meeting for Bonner Bridge 
 
 

Over a Century of      
Engineering Excellence 

 

 

Doug Taylor NCDOT – Roadway Design 
Jerry Jennings NCDOT – Division 1 
Ray McIntyre NCDOT – TIP Development Unit 
Victor Barbour NCDOT – Technical Services 
Mark Staley NCDOT – Roadside Environmental Unit 
Nilesh Surti NCDOT – Transportation Program Management Unit 
Virginia Mabry NCDOT – Transportation Program Management Unit 
Lonnie Brooks NCDOT – Structure Design Unit 
Scott Slusser North Carolina Department of Justice 
Sean Doyle North Carolina Department of Justice 
Don O’Toole North Carolina Department of Justice 
John Page Parsons Brinckerhoff 
Bobby Norburn Parsons Brinckerhoff 
 
The meeting started at 1:00 p.m. in the Board Room of the NCDOT Transportation Building. 
Bill Biddlecome opened the meeting and asked the attendees to introduce themselves.  He then 
turned the meeting over to Beth Smyre.     

Bill said that there was some confusion as to the purpose of today’s meeting – the purpose 
could either be to revisit Concurrence Point No. 3, or it could be an informational meeting.  
Beth said that the reason for the uncertainty on the purpose of the meeting was because 
NCDOT had initially planned to seek concurrence on a new LEDPA, but whether or not that 
occurs will depend partially on how the meeting progresses. 

Beth started to present the meeting packet which was distributed to the Merger Team prior to 
the meeting.  She discussed the Road North/Bridge South (Avoid Ponds) Alternative and the 
reason it was developed (i.e., because of the Section 106 adverse effects determination for the 
Pea Island National Wildlife Refuge with the original Road North/Bridge South Alternative).  
She said that this alternative tries to address this determination by avoiding the ponds.  Beth 
described the alternative using a map that was included in the packet.  There was discussion on 
a possible alignment behind the ponds, but NCDOT did not pursue this alignment because of 
the potential for high wetland impacts.  Beth noted that the impacts with the “Avoid Ponds” 
Alternative were included in the meeting handout with the impacts for the other project 
alternatives. 

Renee Gledhill-Earley said that she had seen this alternative previously at a Section 106 
coordination meeting, and that it does not really avoid the ponds.  Dennis Stewart said that it 
would really be considered as being in the ponds, as it appears to impact marsh areas that are 
considered a part of the ponds.  Beth said that aerial photographs showed it as being out of the 
ponds and in the adjoining wetlands, but that this would need to be field verified if that option 
was selected.  However, the adverse effects determination for the Refuge did not change with 
the “Avoid Ponds” Alternative because of the “Bridge South” segment of the alternative. 



 

 

 
Page 3 
June 29, 2009 
Minutes: May 21, 2009 Merger Team Meeting for Bonner Bridge 
 
 

Over a Century of      
Engineering Excellence 

 

 

Beth asked for further feedback on the “Avoid Ponds” Alternative.  Renee reiterated that there 
was still an Adverse Effect on the Refuge because of the bridging in the southern part of the 
Refuge.  In response to a question from Bill Biddlecome, Renee said that any bridging through 
the historic landscape of the Refuge would be an Adverse Effect. 

Clarence Coleman asked which Parallel Bridge Corridor alternative would be preferred from 
the perspective of Section 106 impacts.  Renee responded that whichever alternative minimizes 
impacts would be preferred; however, in keeping with the intent of the Merger Team Process, 
she said that wants to know what the other agencies think about which alternative minimizes 
impacts before deciding which one she thinks minimizes impacts.  She said she was not ready 
to express a preference yet. 

Cathy Brittingham noted that biotic community impacts were listed in the handout tables, but 
CAMA wetland impacts were not shown.  She asked what percentage of the wetland impacts 
were CAMA wetland impacts.  Dennis discussed the location of CAMA wetlands in the 
Refuge.  The high wetland impacts for the Road North/Bridge South Alternative in relationship 
to the other alternatives were discussed further.  Cathy said that she wants the CAMA coastal 
wetlands impacts listed separately as NCDENR-DCM has requested throughout the project. 

Jim Gregson said that CAMA wetland impacts are a major consideration for NCDENR-DCM.  
He also asked why the “Avoid Ponds” Alternative is being considered if the purpose and need 
is not being met because it would be impacted by the future shoreline before the design year.  
Beth responded that this alternative was an attempt at minimization for Section 106 impacts 
after the meeting with SHPO.  Clarence agreed that this was the main reason for looking at this 
alternative. 

Dennis asked if the 230-foot buffer was maintained between the future shoreline and the 
“Avoid Ponds” Alternative.  Beth responded that the 230-foot buffer was considered, but it was 
violated out of necessity in attempting to minimize Section 106 impacts.  She added that the 
buffer was used to determine when dunes would be needed with the “Avoid Ponds” 
Alternative. 

John Page said that CAMA wetlands are shown on the biotic communities color figures in the 
FEIS appendices and impacts to CAMA wetlands are listed in Table 4-25 on page 4-96 of the 
FEIS.  He said that there are some CAMA wetlands in the ponds area.  Cathy added that 
depending on the outcome of today’s meeting, they may send someone to the project area to 
take a closer look at the locations of CAMA wetlands. 

Brian Wrenn said that the Road North/Bridge South Alternative may not be permitable based 
on high wetland impacts when there are other alternatives with lower wetland impacts.   

Bill Biddlecome referred to the COE’s May 15, 2009 letter that states their position on wetland 
impacts issues.  The COE prefers the Phased Approach from the perspective of wetland 



 

 

 
Page 4 
June 29, 2009 
Minutes: May 21, 2009 Merger Team Meeting for Bonner Bridge 
 
 

Over a Century of      
Engineering Excellence 

 

 

impacts, but realizes that the Road North/Bridge South Alternative is better from the 
perspective of Section 4(f) impacts. 

Clarence said that comments from the DOI and other agencies were not favorable towards the 
Phased Approach, so that is the main reason that the Road North/Bridge South Alternative was 
being revisited. 

Thayer Broili said that he has similar concerns with the “Avoid Ponds” Alternative as with the 
original Road North/Bridge South Alternative. 

Ron Sechler said that he shares USFWS’ concerns related to the Road North/Bridge South 
Alternatives because EFH is affected by both of them.  He also shares the COE’s concerns 
about wetland impacts. 

David Cox said that the NCDENR – Wildlife Resources Commission abstained at the last 
LEDPA selection meeting and they may abstain again.  Also, they will defer to the USFWS on 
which alternative meets their Refuge management goals. 

Chris Militscher said that EPA concurs with the COE’s May 15, 2009 letter.  In addition, they 
have concerns about the Section 404 aspect of the increase in the magnitude of impacts with 
the Road North/Bridge South Alternative.  He said that we already have a signed form from the 
Review Board that satisfies the process needs and we should move forward with the Review 
Board agreement. 

Pete Benjamin said that he has many concerns with the revised Road North/Bridge South 
Alternative.  He said that it does not fully avoid the ponds, but he does not like the impacts on 
the ponds with either Road North/Bridge South alternative.  He is also concerned with beach 
nourishment with any alternative.  The Road North/Bridge South alternatives would have 
adverse impacts on wildlife habitat in the Refuge.  Also, no mitigation opportunities for the 
adverse impacts to the Refuge are available within the Refuge even if mitigation was an option.  
He said these alternatives were not likely to be compatible, so they would not be permitable.   

Mike Bryant agreed that the Road North/Bridge South alternatives likely were not compatible.  
He discussed his April 30 to FHWA letter related to the project (see attached).  The letter 
discussed the priorities of the Refuge management (i.e., “wildlife first”).  Clarence said he had 
not seen this letter.  Mike said it was addressed to John Sullivan. 

Clarence asked about the DOI comment related to Refuge access with the Pamlico Sound 
Bridge Corridor.  Mike and Pete agreed that that issue was not as important as wildlife impacts 
with the Parallel Bridge Corridor alternatives.  Mike said that he thought the DOI comment 
was basically just pointing out that there would be Refuge access issues with the Pamlico 
Sound Bridge Corridor.  Clarence said that the comment also referred to specific Refuge access 
issues such as access being lost to the Visitors Center.  Also, he said that part of the reason for 



 

 

 
Page 5 
June 29, 2009 
Minutes: May 21, 2009 Merger Team Meeting for Bonner Bridge 
 
 

Over a Century of      
Engineering Excellence 

 

 

revisiting the Road North/Bridge South Alternative was to provide a future road at-grade to 
allow better Refuge access. 

Sara Winslow said that the high wetland impacts are her main concern with the Road 
North/Bridge South alternatives. 

Beth discussed why FHWA and NCDOT are now proposing that the Road North/Bridge South 
Alternative is the LEDPA.  She went through the six reasons contained in Section IV of the 
meeting handout.  She said that FHWA and NCDOT were aware that some of the resource and 
regulatory agencies likely would not agree with this position; therefore, with that in mind, she 
also wanted to discuss the e-mail that Chris Militscher had sent to the Merger Team members 
on May 15.  She said that FHWA and NCDOT liked the proposal that Chris presented in the e-
mail. 

Chris discussed his e-mail (see attached).  He said that the Review Board made a decision in 
August 2007 and that none of the agencies officially challenged that decision, although they 
may have disagreed with the decision.  He said that the ambiguity in the Section 404 
regulations led EPA to defer to the COE and NCDENR on their decision on the LEDPA.  He 
said that EPA was not willing to look at the Pamlico Sound Bridge Corridor again (having 
been determined by the Review Board to be not practicable), so he thinks we are limited to the 
Parallel Bridge Corridor.  He said that the Review Board left the LEDPA open beyond Phase I 
because they felt that future conditions were too uncertain in the Refuge to go beyond Phase I 
at this point, and he did not understand why the Merger Team felt that it had to go beyond what 
the Review Board decided by determining future phases now.  He said that he does not doubt 
the quality of the future shoreline modeling that has been done for the project, but there is a 
great deal of uncertainty in even the best models of future conditions for coastal barrier island 
areas like the Bonner Bridge project area.  Therefore, it was EPA’s opinion that it could be 
arbitrary and capricious to make decisions based on modeling that included so much 
uncertainty. 

Chris said that he thought Phase I should be built, and then the rest of the project should be 
examined in more detail when future conditions are more known.  This also would keep 
FHWA from committing a huge amount of money to a project with a substantial amount of 
future uncertainty.  He discussed what EPA believes to be the false assumption that this 
approach would be considered segmentation.  He said segmentation was acceptable when 
alternatives analyses were “too speculative to allow for productive decision making.”  He said 
an adaptive management plan was needed to assist with cooperative decision-making for future 
decisions related to the project, but he wants the Merger Team to go ahead and move forward 
in a cooperative manner based on the Review Board agreement.   

Beth discussed the August 2007 Review Board agreement.  She said that the Merger Team 
agreed that the Bonner Bridge needs to be replaced.  The Review Board agreement said that 
the Pamlico Sound Bridge Corridor is not practicable and that the Parallel Bridge Corridor 



 

 

 
Page 6 
June 29, 2009 
Minutes: May 21, 2009 Merger Team Meeting for Bonner Bridge 
 
 

Over a Century of      
Engineering Excellence 

 

 

includes several different alternatives which could be considered in the future when future 
conditions are better known.  Based on this, NCDOT agrees that specifics related to future 
phases could be decided on closer to when they will be built using an adaptive management 
strategy.  Beth recommended that the team start with the previous Review Board agreement 
and add to it if needed.  Chris added that all of the agencies involved should be included in the 
adaptive management process. 

Thayer discussed adaptive management from the perspective of the NPS.  He said that it is 
virtually the opposite of the compatibility determination process because adaptive management 
will look at needs related to the future road, whereas compatibility only looks at Refuge 
concerns. 

Chris said we have to determine how the Refuge and the road can co-exist because neither can 
move.  He said that possibly a memorandum of agreement was needed between those agencies 
whose primary concern was transportation issues and the environmental resource and 
regulatory agencies to allow the two to co-exist.  He added that we probably cannot adequately 
plan for future worst-case scenarios (e.g., a category 4 storm hitting the project area). 

Clarence said that the revised Road North/Bridge South Alternative was in part to respond to 
Refuge comments on the Phased Approach.  He said that FHWA’s initial reaction is to agree 
with Chris’ suggestion for how to move forward, but he asked Chris for further explanation of 
the segmentation issue.  Chris said that he thought segmentation issue would not be a problem 
on this project because the administrative record includes thorough documentation of the 
extensive research that has taken place related to the unpredictable future conditions in the 
project area.  Also, multiple alternatives for the full project were evaluated.  Chris reiterated 
that he wants to move forward and thinks it would not be constructive to move backwards 
again.  Clarence asked for other agency thoughts on this idea. 

Pete said that he thought the idea had merit.  He said that DOI had said that Phase I of the 
Phased Approach was compatible and could be built.  He said that USFWS has experience 
with adaptive management, but he was trying to decide if adaptive management was 
appropriate for this project.  He wonders whether or not we could identify in the future a 
solution through the Refuge that is legal from the perspective of all of the agencies involved.  
He thinks we need more than just the “hope” that we can find an appropriate future solution. 

Clarence asked whether or not the Phased Approach was legal from the USFWS’ perspective.  
Pete and Mike responded that they had concerns with its compatibility and that building a 
bridge across Oregon Inlet to the north end of the Refuge would lock us in to a narrow choice 
of options that would have to continue through the Refuge.  Pete also expressed concern that 
the Phased Approach would likely require future work outside of the easement, so it may not 
actually be compatible.  Clarence responded that the No-Action Alternative also would require 
work outside of the easement in the Refuge.  Pete said that if the Merger Team decides to 



 

 

 
Page 7 
June 29, 2009 
Minutes: May 21, 2009 Merger Team Meeting for Bonner Bridge 
 
 

Over a Century of      
Engineering Excellence 

 

 

support Chris’ option, the USFWS can go along with the team, but he does not think the team 
should think the problem is solved. 

Chris said he wants more information from the USFWS on what compatibility is.  Mike quoted 
DOI regulations and admitted that they were “loose” in order to give him the utmost discretion 
to say “no” to compatibility requests that were not in the best interest of the Refuge’s mission.  
He said that he had less discretion to say “yes” to compatibility requests and that this is 
designed to keep the Refuge from “dying a death by 1,000 cuts.”  The 1997 Act raised the bar 
on what is allowed within the Refuge.  It defined activities that were allowed more clearly and 
gave less flexibility than previously in allowing activities that may not be compatible with the 
Refuge’s mission.  Chris noted that the DOI did not elevate the Phased Approach selection to 
the CEQ after the FEIS.   

Clarence asked if the meeting attendees were ready to move forward with Phase I.  Renee said 
that she was willing to go along with Chris’ proposal, but we still need to address the adverse 
effects of Phase I.  She said an adaptive management process for future phases would have to 
include determining the likely impacts to the Refuge’s historic landscape as a result of future 
phases. 

Thayer said that he would like to reserve judgment on Chris’ suggestion until after the meeting 
between the FHWA and DOI attorneys next week.  Mike agreed with this.  Chris said that it 
was possible that the attorneys would have more questions than answers after their meeting.  
He added that he did not think that was what the Merger Process should be based on, and that 
legal challenges would still apply even if the Merger Team decides to move forward. 

Bill said that the Review Board agreement basically says what Chris is suggesting.  He said it 
seems like the team is basically back to where we were two years ago at the time of that 
agreement.  He is still agreeable to the Review Board agreement, but he would also listen to 
any suggested edits that any of the other agencies may have.  He also understands the concern 
of the construction of Phase I limiting future options.  Chris said that no agency challenged the 
FEIS to CEQ, so we should move forward.  Beth said that we could put a commitment to 
adaptive management for future phases in the ROD. 

Clarence said that based on today’s discussions, he understands that other agencies want 
flexibility with future phases, which is something that the FHWA thought the Road 
North/Bridge South Alternative increased.  He said that one of the main reasons for today’s 
meeting was to discuss possible revisions to the Road North/Bridge South Alternative in 
response to previously expressed agency concerns.  Beth noted that according to the Review 
Board agreement, the other Parallel Bridge Corridor alternatives are still being considered to 
allow flexibility with future phases.   She also said that the team’s final agreement at today’s 
meeting would be included in the ROD. 



 

 

 
Page 8 
June 29, 2009 
Minutes: May 21, 2009 Merger Team Meeting for Bonner Bridge 
 
 

Over a Century of      
Engineering Excellence 

 

 

Clarence asked if the Merger Team needed to prepare a formal agreement for the outcome of 
today’s meeting, including the possibility of forming an adaptive management plan.  Chris said 
that he thought we should prepare a memorandum of understanding or agreement in order to 
document that all of the Merger Team member agencies agreed with the outcome of the 
meeting. 

Pete asked what the ROD would state with respect to the other project alternatives.  Clarence 
responded that FHWA would think about this and then discuss a proposed strategy with other 
team members before finalizing what would be in the ROD with respect to the other project 
alternatives. 

Dennis commented that with respect to an adaptive management plan, the Refuge manager 
would still have the final say on decisions within the Refuge.  He asked if this would be 
addressed in the ROD.  Beth responded that the Refuge manager’s rights with respect to legal 
issues in the Refuge would be recognized under an adaptive management agreement.   

Dennis asked where would the funding come from for implementing ideas generated from the 
adaptive management plan within the Refuge.  He also asked if such funding would be 
committed to in the ROD.  Clarence responded that it would be hard to answer that question 
today.  Dennis said that he realizes this needs more thought, but he thought some level of detail 
of commitments would be needed in the ROD.  Clarence said that he did not see this as a major 
stumbling block, but he does not want to speak for NCDOT.   

Thayer said that he is not sure if NCDOT fully understands what the concept of adaptive 
management means to the DOI, and that we need to be careful that the different agencies are 
not speaking in different “languages” about the same terms.  Pete said he would send the team 
members a link to the DOI webpage that explains the agency’s concept of adaptive 
management. 

Clarence and Beth briefly summarized the discussions at today’s meeting and asked if there 
was an agreement to move forward based on the 2007 Review Board agreement without any 
changes.  All agencies in attendance agreed to move forward based on the 2007 Review 
Board agreement. 

Chris added that the Merger Team needs to try to gain a better understanding of how DOI 
handles adaptive management, and then work together to develop a framework for moving 
forward with the concept of adaptive management for future project-related decisions. 

Beth said that currently the ROD is scheduled to be released in October and the design/build 
contract is scheduled to be let in February 2010, with construction likely starting about one 
year later.  In response to a question from Cathy, Beth said that the permit process would likely 
begin by the spring of 2010. 



 

 

 
Page 9 
June 29, 2009 
Minutes: May 21, 2009 Merger Team Meeting for Bonner Bridge 
 
 

Over a Century of      
Engineering Excellence 

 

 

Bill asked about a memorandum of understanding or agreement for today’s agreement.  Beth 
responded that FHWA and NCDOT would initiate this effort.  Clarence added that they would 
think about whether or not a memorandum of agreement was needed now, or just the 
commitment to do one. 

Bill asked if the Merger Team would be informed about the results of the meeting next week 
between the FHWA and DOI lawyers.  Clarence said that he would provide information about 
the results of the meeting to the Merger Team. 

Gary Jordan noted for the record that the USFWS never concurred with the Phased Approach 
Alternative as the LEDPA, but the decision was elevated above them. 

Bill asked Beth for clarification on whether NCDOT was going to revise the language in the 
Review Board agreement related to the Phased Approach for the ROD.  Beth responded that 
the wording in the Review Board agreement says that it is “expected” that the Phased 
Approach would be identified in the ROD as the LEDPA, not that it “will be” the LEDPA.  
Therefore, NCDOT needs to take a closer look at this issue before determining the exact 
wording for the ROD. 

Leilani Paugh asked if there would be a separate meeting to discuss Phase I mitigation with the 
agencies.  Beth responded that NCDOT was planning to have a meeting, but the exact time 
would be worked out later. 

Bill Biddlecome then adjourned the meeting. 

file no.: 3301-2.7.2 
 
S:\PDEA\Folder with Project names\Yamamoto_Projects\Smyre\B-2500\Merger Team Meetings\5-21-09\Bonner Merger Team 
Meeting Minutes (5-21-09)- FINAL.doc 












	Bonner 4f Appendix H-2 Merger Minutes.pdf
	addressee
	title
	Bonner Bridge 5-28-09 mtg minutes 2.0.pdf
	Text37
	Text31


	Appendix H.pdf
	Appendix H (2009 Merger Team Minutes)

	Appendix H.pdf
	Appendix H (Merger Team Meeting Minutes Since Approval of September 17, 2008 FEIS)

	Appendix H.pdf
	Appendix H (Merger Team Meeting Minutes Since Approval of September 17, 2008 FEIS)

	Appendix D cover sheet.pdf
	Appendix D: 2009 Merger Team Minutes




